*State of Michigan
In the Supreme Court*

Appeal from the Michigan Court of Appeals
O'Connell, P.J., and Hoekstra and K.F. Kelly, J.J.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v

LARICCA SEMINTA MATHEWS,

Defendant-Appellee.

**Supreme Court
Docket No.**

Court of Appeals No. 339079
Oakland Circuit Court No. 2016-260482-FC

*Plaintiff-Appellant's
Application for Leave to Appeal*

JESSICA R. COOPER
Prosecuting Attorney
Oakland County

THOMAS R. GRDEN
Chief, Appellate Division

MATTHEW A. FILLMORE (P59025)
Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant
Assistant Prosecuting Attorney
Oakland County Prosecutor's Office
1200 North Telegraph Road
Pontiac, Michigan 48341
(248) 452-9178

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

On June 13, 2017, Oakland Circuit Court Judge Phyllis C. McMillen entered an order granting defendant's motion to suppress statements she made during two police interviews (Opinion and Order [Appendix B]). The people appealed this ruling by filing an interlocutory application for leave to appeal in the Court of Appeals. In a 2-1 decision, the Court of Appeals denied the people's application for leave to appeal for lack of merit in the grounds presented. *People v Mathews*, unpublished order of the Court of Appeals, entered August 23, 2017 (Docket No. 339079). The people appealed, and this Court remanded to the Court of Appeals for consideration as on leave granted. *People v Mathews*, 501 Mich 950; 904 NW2d 865 (2018). On remand, the Court of Appeals, in a split published opinion, affirmed the trial court's order suppressing the evidence. *People v Mathews*, ___ Mich App ___; ___ NW2d ___ (2018) (Docket No. 339079) (Appendix A). The people now apply for leave to appeal this decision. This Court has jurisdiction over the application under MCR 7.303(B)(1). This application is timely filed within 56 days after the date the Court of Appeals order was entered. MCR 7.305(C)(2)(a).

JUDGMENT APPEALED FROM AND RELIEF SOUGHT

On June 13, 2017, Oakland Circuit Court Judge Phyllis C. McMillen entered an order granting defendant’s motion to suppress statements she made during two police interviews (Opinion and Order [Appendix B]). The trial court held that although the interviewing officers advised defendant that she had the right to an attorney, the statements defendant made during the interview must be suppressed because the officers did not explicitly advise defendant that she had the right to have an attorney present before and during the interview (Opinion and Order [Appendix B]). The people appealed this ruling by filing an interlocutory application for leave to appeal in the Court of Appeals. In a 2-1 decision, the Court of Appeals majority (Cavanagh, J., and Gleicher, J.) denied the people’s application for leave to appeal for lack of merit in the grounds presented. *People v Mathews*, unpublished order of the Court of Appeals, entered August 23, 2017 (Docket No. 339079). Judge O’Brien would have granted the application for leave to appeal. *Id.* The people appealed this Court of Appeals order. This Court remanded to the Court of Appeals for consideration as on leave granted. *People v Mathews*, 501 Mich 950; 904 NW2d 865 (2018). On remand, the Court of Appeals, in a split published opinion authored by Judge Hoekstra, affirmed the trial court’s order suppressing the evidence. *People v Mathews*, ___ Mich App ___; ___ NW2d ___ (2018) (Docket No. 339079) (Appendix A). The Court of Appeals majority (Hoekstra, J., and K.F. Kelly, J.) summarized its holding as follows:

On remand, we find no merit to defendant’s assertion that the police were required to inform her that she could cut off questioning at any time during the interrogation. However, because generally advising defendant that she had “a right to a lawyer” did not sufficiently convey her right to consult with an attorney and to have an attorney present during the interrogation, we conclude that the *Miranda*^[1] warnings in this case were defective and we affirm the trial court’s

¹ *Miranda v Arizona*, 384 US 436; 86 S Ct 1602; 16 L Ed 2d 694 (1966)

suppression of defendant’s statement. [*People v Mathews*, ___ Mich App ___; ___ NW2d ___ (2018) (Docket No. 339079), slip op at 1 (Appendix A).]

Judge O’Connell dissented from the part of the majority’s ruling that the “right to counsel” portion of the *Miranda* warnings were defective. *People v Mathews*, ___ Mich App ___; ___ NW2d ___ (2018) (Docket No. 339079) (O’Connell, P.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (Appendix A). In contrast to the majority, he agreed with “those cases cited in the majority opinion holding that a generalized warning that the suspect has the right to counsel, without specifying when, satisfies the *Miranda* requirements.” *Id.*, slip op at 2 (O’Connell, P.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). Judge O’Connell concurred with the balance of the majority opinion. *Id.*, slip op at 3 (O’Connell, P.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). The people now apply for leave to appeal Part (B) of the Court of Appeals majority opinion, which held that the “right to counsel” warning was deficient.

Because this case involves a published Court of Appeals opinion with a dissent and presents an issue of first impression in this Court that has divided appellate courts throughout the nation, the people request that this Court grant leave to appeal or a mini oral argument on the application to determine whether the warning “you have a right to a lawyer” can satisfy *Miranda v Arizona*, 384 US 436; 86 S Ct 1602; 16 L Ed 2d 694 (1966).

STATEMENT OF QUESTION PRESENTED

I. To comply with *Miranda v Arizona*, 384 US 436; 86 S Ct 1602; 16 L Ed 2d 694 (1966), the police must give the suspect warnings that reasonably convey that he or she has the right to the presence of an attorney before and during interrogation. Here, at the beginning of defendant’s interrogation, the police warned her that “[b]efore any questions are asked of you, you should know . . . you have a right to a lawyer” This Court has never decided—and other jurisdictions are split on this issue—whether such a general “right to an attorney” warning, without any attached temporal limitations, reasonably conveys to the suspect his or her rights as required by *Miranda*. Should this Court grant leave to appeal to decide this issue?

The people contend the answer is: “Yes.”

Defendant has not yet answered this question.

The circuit court did not answer this question.

The Court of Appeals did not answer this question.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of this case appear to be undisputed. The Court of Appeals accurately summarized the facts as follows:

This case arises from the shooting death of defendant's boyfriend, Gabriel Dumas, who was killed in defendant's apartment on August 12, 2016. After the shooting, defendant called 911 and told the dispatcher that she had shot Dumas. Police responded to the scene, and defendant was taken into custody and transported to the Wixom Police Department. At the police station, defendant was interviewed twice. Detective Brian Stowinsky conducted the first interview. During the first interview, Stowinsky presented defendant with a written advice of rights form which stated:

Before any questions are asked of you, you should know: (1) you have a right to remain silent; (2) anything you say may be used against you; (3) you have a right to a lawyer, and (4) if you cannot afford a lawyer, one will be provided free.

I understand what my rights are and am willing to talk.

Stowinsky also orally reviewed the statements on the advice of rights form with defendant. Specifically, the following exchange took place:

Detective Stowinsky: OK, um, I'm going to review these, ok?

Defendant: Uh hmm.

Detective Stowinsky: I'm going to read these to you.

Defendant: Uh hmm.

Detective Stowinsky: Um, before I question, start asking you, you should know that you have a right to remain silent.

Defendant: Uh hmm.

Detective Stowinsky: Anything you say maybe [sic] used against you. You have a right to a lawyer, if you cannot afford a lawyer, one will be provided for free. Do you understand your rights?

Defendant: Yes.

Defendant agreed to talk with Stowinsky and she signed the advice of rights form. During the questioning that followed, defendant told Stowinsky that she quarreled with Dumas, that Dumas attacked her, and that she shot him.

Later the same day, defendant was interviewed a second time by Sergeant Michael DesRosiers. At the beginning of that second interview the following exchange took place between defendant and DesRosiers:

Sergeant DesRosiers: Alright, so um, Detective Stowinsky, remember he talked about your rights and everything?

Defendant: Uh hmm.

Sergeant DesRosiers: Same thing applies. Um, you don't, you don't have to even talk to me if you don't want to. You can get an attorney um, if you can't afford one, we'll make sure you get one.

Defendant: OK.

Sergeant DesRosiers: So, um, we're just continuing the interview that you started with him.

DesRosiers then proceeded to question defendant about inconsistencies between her previous statements and the physical evidence, including the location of Dumas's fatal bullet wound. Defendant again admitted shooting Dumas, and she attempted to explain the location of the bullet wound by suggesting that the bullet may have ricocheted. She also suggested that the shooting may have been an accident insofar as her finger may have "slipped" while on the trigger because it was "so hot and muggy." [*People v Mathews*, ___ Mich App ___, ___; ___ NW2d ___ (2018) (Docket No. 339079), slip op at 1-3 (Appendix A).]

Defendant was charged with statutory short-form murder, MCL 750.316, reckless discharge of a firearm in a building, MCL 750.234b, and two counts of possession of a firearm in the commission of a felony (felony-firearm), MCL 750.227b (Information). Defendant filed a motion to suppress the statements she made during the police interviews, arguing that the statements were involuntary and therefore inadmissible because the police did not explicitly advise her that (1) she had the right to stop the interrogation at any point and (2) she had a right to a lawyer present during interrogation (Defendant's Motion to Suppress Statements). Defendant attached as Exhibit A to her motion the written advice of rights form that she signed at the beginning of the first interview (Defendant's Brief in Support of Motion to Suppress Statements, Exhibit A). The people responded that the advice of rights was sufficient under

Miranda (People’s Response to Defendant’s Motion to Suppress Statements). The parties stipulated that the trial court could consider the video recording of the interviews and the transcripts of the interviews in deciding defendant’s motion (5/3/17 Motion Hearing Transcript [MT I], 3-5).² On May 24, 2017, the parties argued defendant’s motion before Oakland Circuit Court Judge Phyllis C. McMillen (5/24/17 Motion Hearing Transcript [MT II] [Appendix E]). The trial court took the matter under advisement.

On June 13, 2017, the trial court issued an opinion and order granting defendant’s motion to suppress (Opinion and Order [Appendix B]). The court concluded that the warnings the detective gave defendant did not adequately inform her that she had a right to have a lawyer with her during interrogation:

Nowhere in the warnings received by Ms. Mathews was she told that she has the right to consult an attorney before her interrogation or to have an attorney present with her during interrogation. Nor is there any language from which it could be inferred that she had that right. In the absence of the explicit indication that she had the right to an attorney present before or during questioning, the inference was that at some point in the future, she would be entitled to have an attorney represent her. [Opinion and Order, 6 (Appendix B).]

The trial court then distinguished the cases cited by the prosecution on the ground that in those cases, the words “present,” “presence,” or “with you” were included in the warnings that the suspects had the right to a lawyer (Opinion and Order, 7-8 [Appendix B]). The court did not, however, cite any cases holding that a general right to counsel warning (“You have the right to a lawyer”) was insufficient under *Miranda*. The court concluded as follows:

The warnings given by Detective Stowinsky and Sergeant DesRosiers failed to advise the Defendant that she had the right to have an attorney present before and during interrogation. The warnings given were not the fully effective equivalent of advising her that she had the right to the presence of an attorney, and that if she could not afford an attorney one would be appointed for her prior

² The transcripts of the interviews are attached as Appendix C.

to any questioning if she so desired. As set forth in the rulings above, without those warnings, the constitutional standards for the protection of the Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination have not been met, and the statements Defendant gave to Detective Stowinsky and Sergeant DesRosiers may not be used in a trial against her. [Opinion and Order, 8 (Appendix B).]

The trial court did not rule on whether the officers violated *Miranda* by failing to advise defendant that she could terminate the interview at any point.

The people filed an interlocutory application for leave to appeal the trial court's ruling suppressing defendant's statements. In a 2-1 decision, the Court of Appeals majority (Cavanagh, J., and Gleicher, J.) denied the people's application for leave to appeal for lack of merit in the grounds presented. *People v Mathews*, unpublished order of the Court of Appeals, entered August 23, 2017 (Docket No. 339079). Judge O'Brien would have granted the application for leave to appeal. *Id.*

The people filed an application for leave to appeal in this Court. This Court remanded to the Court of Appeals for consideration as on leave granted. *People v Mathews*, 501 Mich 950; 904 NW2d 865 (2018). On remand, the Court of Appeals, in a split published opinion authored by Judge Hoekstra, affirmed the trial court's order suppressing the evidence. *People v Mathews*, ___ Mich App ___; ___ NW2d ___ (2018) (Docket No. 339079) (Appendix A). The Court of Appeals majority (Hoekstra, J., and K.F. Kelly, J.) first summarized its holding as follows:

On remand, we find no merit to defendant's assertion that the police were required to inform her that she could cut off questioning at any time during the interrogation. However, because generally advising defendant that she had "a right to a lawyer" did not sufficiently convey her right to consult with an attorney and to have an attorney present during the interrogation, we conclude that the *Miranda* warnings in this case were defective and we affirm the trial court's suppression of defendant's statement. [*People v Mathews*, ___ Mich App ___; ___ NW2d ___ (2018) (Docket No. 339079), slip op at 1 (Appendix A).]

In regard to the first issue, the Court held, "[W]hen a defendant has been advised of his or her right to remain silent as required by *Miranda*, police need not also expressly inform the

defendant that this right to remain silent may be exercised to cut off questioning at any point during the interrogation.” *Id.*, slip op at 6. In regard to the second issue, the majority held, “Although there is conflicting authority on this issue, we agree with the trial court and hold that a general warning regarding a ‘right to a lawyer’ does not comply with the dictates of *Miranda*.” *Id.* In reaching this conclusion, the majority acknowledged that it was “not aware of any binding caselaw resolving this issue.” *Id.*, slip op at 7. The majority discussed decisions from numerous courts that had reached different conclusions on the issue of whether the general warning of the “right to an attorney” satisfies *Miranda*. *Id.*, slip op at 8-10. It then decided that the cases requiring a temporally-related warning were more persuasive than the cases holding that a general “right to an attorney” was sufficient. *Id.*, slip op at 11. But in reaching this conclusion, the majority conceded, “we fully acknowledge that there is a certain logic in the proposition that an unqualified general warning about a ‘right to an attorney’ encompasses *all* facets of the right to counsel such that a broad warning before interrogation regarding the ‘right to an attorney’ impliedly informs a suspect of the right to consult an attorney and to have an attorney present during the interrogation.” *Id.* That being said, the majority rejected this logic as “disingenuous,” concluded that the warnings in this case were insufficient, and affirmed the trial court’s suppression of defendant’s statements at trial. *Id.*, slip op at 11-13.

Judge O’Connell dissented from the part of the majority’s ruling that the “right to counsel” portion of the *Miranda* warnings were defective. *People v Mathews*, ___ Mich App ___, ___ NW2d ___ (2018) (Docket No. 339079) (O’Connell, P.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (Appendix A). In contrast to the majority, he agreed with “those cases cited in the majority opinion holding that a generalized warning that the suspect has the right to counsel, without specifying when, satisfies the *Miranda* requirements.” *Id.*, slip op at 2. He concluded

that in this case, “It is clear from these warnings that defendant’s right to a lawyer related to the forthcoming questioning by both Detective Stowinsky and Sergeant DeRosiers.” *Id.* He queried, “When the police warn a suspect before the start of questioning that the suspect has the right to counsel, for what other purpose than questioning—the entire duration of questioning—would a suspect be entitled to a lawyer?” *Id.*, slip op at 2 n 2. Judge O’Connell concurred with the balance of the majority opinion (holding that the police were not required to inform the defendant that she had the right to cut off questioning at any time). *Id.*, slip op at 3.

The people now apply for leave to appeal Part (B) of Court of Appeals majority opinion, which holds that the police warnings were insufficient to satisfy *Miranda*. Additional facts, where pertinent to the issue raised on appeal, may be set forth in the argument section of this brief.

ARGUMENT

I. To comply with *Miranda v Arizona*, 384 US 436; 86 S Ct 1602; 16 L Ed 2d 694 (1966), the police must give the suspect warnings that reasonably convey that he or she has the right to the presence of an attorney before and during interrogation. Here, at the beginning of defendant’s interrogation, the police warned her that “[b]efore any questions are asked of you, you should know . . . you have a right to a lawyer” Because this Court has never decided—and other jurisdictions are split on this issue—whether such a general “right to an attorney” warning, without any attached temporal limitations, reasonably conveys to the suspect his or her rights as required by *Miranda*, this Court should grant leave to appeal to decide this issue.

ISSUE PRESERVATION:

Defendant moved to suppress the statements she made during the police interviews, arguing that the police did not adequately advise her of all of her *Miranda* rights (Defendant’s Motion to Suppress Statements). The people opposed defendant’s motion (People’s Response to Defendant’s Motion to Suppress Statements). The trial court granted defendant’s motion and suppressed her statements (Opinion and Order [Appendix B]). Therefore, this issue was preserved for appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW:

This Court reviews de novo a trial court’s determination whether a defendant’s waiver of his *Miranda* rights was made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. *People v Tierney*, 266 Mich App 687, 707-708; 703 NW2d 204 (2005). This Court also reviews de novo constitutional issues and other issues of law, as well as a trial court’s ultimate decision regarding a motion to suppress evidence. *People v Murphy (On Remand)*, 282 Mich App 571, 584; 766 NW2d 303 (2009); *People v Henry (After Remand)*, 305 Mich App 127, 137; 854 NW2d 114 (2014).

DISCUSSION:

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