STATE OF MICHIGAN

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from the Michigan Court of Appeals
O'Connell, P.J., and Hoekstra and K.F. Kelly, J.J.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Supreme Court

Docket No. 156542

-vs-

LARICCA SEMINTA MATHEWS,

Defendant-Appellee.

Court of Appeals No. 339079

Oakland Circuit Court No. 2016-260482-FC

***Defendant-Appellee's Response to
Plaintiff-Appellant's Application for Leave to Appeal***

LAW OFFICES OF JOSEPH A. LAVIGNE
Joseph A. Lavigne (P50966)
Attorney for Defendant-Appellee
31700 West 13 Mile Road, Suite 96
Farmington Hills, Michigan 48334
(248) 539-3144

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

ARGUMENT

- I. THE SO-CALLED WARNINGS IN THIS CASE OMITTED CRITICAL ADVICE OF RIGHTS TO DEFENDANT AND DID NOT MEET THE REQUIREMENTS NECESSARY TO SATISFY *MIRANDA* AND SECURE A VALID WAIVER OF HER STATE AND FEDERAL PRIVILEGES AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION.**

Issue preservation

The Defendant properly moved the trial court for an order suppressing the statements in this case, which was granted over the People's opposition. This issue was properly preserved for appeal.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews questions of law de novo.¹⁰ The Court also reviews de novo a trial court's conclusions of law on a motion to suppress evidence.¹¹

Analysis

The constitutional right to remain silent is a well established liberty interest¹² that is guarded under both federal¹³ and state constitutional law.¹⁴

¹⁰ *People v Lukity*, 460 Mich 484, 488; 596 NW2d 607 (1999).

¹¹ *People v Faucett*, 442 Mich 153, 170; 499 NW2d 764 (1993).

¹² *See eg Chavez v Martinez*, 538 US 760, 788; 123 S Ct 1994; 155 L Ed 2d 984 (2003) (Stevens, J., dissenting); *Malloy v Hogan*, 378 US 1, 8; 84 S Ct 1489; 12 L Ed 2d 653 (1964) (“the Fourteenth Amendment secures against state invasion the same privilege that the Fifth Amendment guarantees against federal infringement – the right of a person to remain silent unless he chooses to speak in the unfettered exercise of his own will, and to suffer no penalty . . . for such silence”).

¹³ US CONST AMEND V.

¹⁴ MICH CONST 1963 ART I, § 17. *See also* US CONST AMEND XIV; *Malloy v Hogan*, 378 US 1; 84 S Ct 1489; 12 L Ed 2d 653 (1964).

Perhaps chief among these protections is the recognition that “the coercion inherent in custodial interrogation blurs the line between voluntary and involuntary statements, and thus heightens the risk that an individual will not be ‘accorded his privilege under the Fifth Amendment . . . not to be compelled to incriminate himself.’”¹⁵ It is well established that a defendant’s constitutional rights have been violated if his conviction is based, in whole or in part, on an involuntary confession, regardless of its truth or falsity.¹⁶ This is true even if there is ample evidence aside from the confession to support the conviction.¹⁷

The People concede that the warnings in this case failed to “explicitly advise defendant that she had the right to the presence of a lawyer during the interrogation.”¹⁸ The People instead try to spin the little advice that was given as sufficient to reasonably convey the required rights, and ask this Honorable Court to instead focus its attention on questionable precedents, or holdings in other jurisdictions, and to determine that the deficient warnings in this case were ‘close enough’ to warrant admissibility of statements despite their violation of *Miranda* and *Dickerson*.

The two key issues in this case are whether the insufficient *Miranda* warnings can be ignored and the statements admitted anyway; and whether the

¹⁵ *Dickerson v United States*, 530 US 428, 435; 120 S Ct 2326; 147 L Ed 2d 405 (2000) (quoting *Miranda v Arizona*, 384 US 436, 439; 86 S Ct 1602; 16 L Ed 2d 694 (1966)).

¹⁶ *Rogers v Richmond*, 356 US 534, 544; 81 S Ct 735; 5 L Ed 2d 769 (1961); *Wan v United States* 266 US 1; 45 S Ct 1; 69 L Ed 131 (1924).

¹⁷ *Malinski v New York*, 324 US 401, 404; 65 S Ct 781; 89 L Ed 1029 (1945); *Bram v United States*, 168 US 532, 540-42; 18 S Ct 183; 42 L Ed 568 (1897).

¹⁸ People’s Application at p 10.

cases that would purportedly support that outcome remain good law. Although the People invite this Honorable Court to establish landmark jurisprudence in reconciling the tea leaves of various other state and federal court decisions, it need not (and should not¹⁹) do so in order to resolve the issue presented because, among other things, the warnings in this case fail to satisfy *Miranda* itself.

A. THE WARNINGS REQUIRED BY *MIRANDA v ARIZONA*.

Although somewhat passé in the present day due to the proliferation of the perceived requirements of *Miranda* throughout popular culture,²⁰ the decision itself bears repeating. *Miranda* requires that a suspect in custody

must be warned prior to any questioning that he has the right to remain silent, that anything he says can be used against him in a court of law, that he has the right *to the presence of* an attorney, and that if he cannot

¹⁹ See *Federated Publs, Inc v Michigan State Univ Bd of Trustees*, 460 Mich 75, 93; 594 NW2d 491 (1999) (“this longstanding rule requires us to consider constitutional questions only as a last resort, and to avoid such questions where a nonconstitutional basis exists for resolving the matter.”); *Lisee v Secretary of State*, 388 Mich 32, 40-41; 199 NW2d 188 (1972) (“constitutional questions will not be passed upon when other decisive questions are raised by the record which dispose of the case.” (internal quotation omitted)); *In re MS*, 291 Mich App 439, 442; 805 NW2d 460 (2011) (“we will not address constitutional issues when, as here, we can resolve an appeal on alternative grounds.”). See also *Burton v United States*, 196 US 283, 295; 25 S Ct 243; 49 L Ed 482 (1905) (“It is not the habit of the Court to decide questions of a constitutional nature unless absolutely necessary to a decision of the case.”); *Liverpool, NY & PSS Co v Emigration Commr’s*, 113 US 33, 39; 5 S Ct 352; 28 L Ed 899 (1885) (the Court will not “formulate a rule of constitutional law broader than is required by the precise facts to which it is to be applied.”). Accord, *Ashwander v TVA*, 297 US 288, 347; 56 S Ct 466; 80 L Ed 688 (1936) (Brandeis, J., concurring); *Bowman v Tennessee Valley Authority*, 744 F2d 1207, 1211 (CA 6, 1984).

²⁰ See eg *Mitchell v United States*, 526 US 314, 331-32; 119 S Ct 1307; 143 L Ed 2d 424 (1999) (Scalia, J., concurring) (discussing *Miranda* being embedded in routine police practice to the point where the warnings have become part of our national culture).

afford an attorney one will be appointed for him prior to any questioning if he so desires. Opportunity to exercise these rights must be afforded to him throughout the interrogation. . . . [U]nless and until such warnings and waiver are demonstrated by the prosecution at trial, no evidence obtained as a result of interrogation can be used against him.²¹

The failure to adequately provide such warnings renders any resulting statement per se involuntary and inadmissible,²² even if the court “might not find the defendant’s statements to have been involuntary in traditional terms.”²³

Although the Supreme Court has not required absolute rigidity in the specific words used, the “warnings *Miranda* requires are invariable” and must be given in full.²⁴ There is no room for selectivity when it comes to advising of these critical rights. Indeed the Court has held that these particular “safeguards *must be observed*”²⁵ and that the warnings are “*an absolute prerequisite* in overcoming the inherent pressures of the interrogation atmosphere.”²⁶

1. Right to counsel at all times during interrogation.

The *Miranda* Court was explicit: “we hold that an individual held for interrogation must be *clearly informed* that he has the right to consult with a

²¹ *Miranda*, 384 US at 479 (emphasis added).

²² *Id* at 458 (“Unless adequate protective devices are employed to dispel the compulsion inherent in custodial surroundings, no statement obtained from the defendant can truly be the product of his free choice.”).

²³ *Id* at 457.

²⁴ *Florida v Powell*, 559 US 50, 60; 130 S Ct 1195; 175 L Ed 2d 1009 (2010). See also *California v Prysock*, 453 US 335, 359; 101 S Ct 2806; 69 L Ed 2d 696 (1981). Although the People are quick to cite Defendant’s preceding statement of the law about absolute rigidity in their Application, People’s Application at p 23 n 13, they conveniently skip over the further statement that the warnings are “invariable” and must be given in full.

²⁵ *Miranda*, 384 US at 467 (emphasis added)

²⁶ *Id* at 468 (emphasis added).

lawyer *and to have the lawyer with him* during interrogation.”²⁷ The Wixom officers did not satisfy this requirement. They did say Defendant had a right to a lawyer, but did not advise her that she had the right to have a lawyer with her before or during interrogation. *Miranda* requires that she be advised of both. She was not and the inquiry really ought to end there.

2. The failure to give adequate warnings precludes the admissibility of any subsequent statement.

“The requirement of warnings and waiver of rights is . . . fundamental with respect to the Fifth Amendment privilege and not simply a preliminary ritual to existing methods of interrogation.”²⁸ “[T]he accused *must be adequately and effectively appraised of his rights* and the exercise of those rights must be fully honored.”²⁹ “Without the protections flowing from adequate warnings and the rights of counsel, ‘all the careful safeguards erected around the giving of testimony, whether by an accused or any other witness, would become empty formalities in a procedure where the most compelling possible evidence of guilt, a confession, would have already been obtained at the unsupervised pleasure of the police.’”³⁰

“It is not just the subnormal or woefully ignorant who succumb to an interrogator’s imprecations, whether implied or expressly stated, that the

²⁷ *Id* at 470-71 (emphasis added).

²⁸ *Dickerson* 530 US at 441 (quoting *Miranda v Arizona*, 384 US at 479) (ellipsis in original).

²⁹ *Id* at 440 (quoting *Miranda v Arizona*, 384 US at 467) (emphasis added).

³⁰ *Miranda*, 384 US at 466 (quoting *Mapp v Ohio*, 367 US 643, 685; 81 S Ct 1684; 6 L Ed 2d 1081 (1961) (Harlan, J., dissenting) and citing *Pointer v Texas*, 380 US 400; 85 S Ct 1065; 13 L Ed 2d 923 (1965)).

interrogation will continue until a confession is obtained or that silence in the face of accusation is itself damning and will bode ill when presented to a jury.”³¹ “The Fifth Amendment privilege is so fundamental to our system of constitutional rule and the expedient of giving an adequate warning as to the availability of the privilege so simple, *we will not pause to inquire in individual cases whether the defendant was aware of his rights without a warning being given.* Assessments of the knowledge the defendant possessed, based on information as to his age, education, intelligence, or prior contact with authorities, can never be more than speculation; ***a warning is a clear cut fact.***”³² “[W]hatever the background of the person interrogated, a *warning at the time of the interrogation is indispensable* to overcome its pressures and to insure that the individual knows he is free to exercise the privilege *at that point in time.*”³³

In this case the Defendant was not advised of her right to have counsel present and available for consultation before or during questioning. She also was not advised that she had the right to cut off the interrogation at any point if she wished to. The warnings not only fail to fully convey what her rights were, but they ignored the directive of “affording a continuous opportunity to exercise” them.³⁴ The omission of these required warnings renders Defendant’s subsequent statements inadmissible against her at trial and the Court of Appeals’ opinion

³¹ *Id* at 468.

³² *Id* at 468-69 (footnote omitted) (emphasis added).

³³ *Id* at 469 (emphasis added). *Accord, Dickerson*, 530 US at 440.

³⁴ *Miranda*, 384 US at 490.

affirming their suppression should be upheld by either explicitly affirming that ruling, or by denying the People's Application.

B. EVEN IF ALL THE CASES UPON WHICH THE PEOPLE RELY REMAIN GOOD LAW, THE WARNINGS IN THIS CASE WERE CONSTITUTIONALLY INSUFFICIENT.

Rather than arguing that the warnings in this case were accurately given in full, the People instead urge this court to give them a pass because the warnings got some of Defendant's rights correct, even if they were deficient in other key respects.³⁵ Deferring for the time being that most of the cases upon which the People rely are no longer good law after *Dickerson*,³⁶ even if they were valid they are factually distinguishable. In support of the proposition that less than the required warnings may still suffice for admissibility, each of the cases cited discusses a suspect's right to have an attorney "present" or "with you," which advice was lacking in the present case.

The People cite *Duckworth v Egan*³⁷ and *California v Prysock*³⁸ for the principles that *Miranda* should not be examined as if construing a will or easement and therefore warnings need not be given in the exact form described in *Miranda*,³⁹ and that "no talismanic incantation was required" to satisfy *Miranda*.⁴⁰ But each

³⁵ *But see Florida v Powell*, 559 US 50, 60; 130 S Ct 1195; 175 L Ed 2d 1009 (2010); *Dickerson v United States*; *California v Prysock*, 453 US 335, 359; 101 S Ct 2806; 69 L Ed 2d 696 (1981); *Miranda v Arizona*.

³⁶ *See infra* Section I.C.

³⁷ 492 US 195; 109 S Ct 2875; 106 L Ed 2d 166 (1989).

³⁸ 453 US 355; 101 S Ct 2806; 69 L Ed 2d 696 (1981).

³⁹ *See Duckworth*, 492 US at 202-03.

⁴⁰ *Prysock*, 453 US at 359.

case is distinguishable—particularly in the context of the issue at bar—because each case had advice about the presence of counsel during questioning. In *Duckworth* the defendant was advised “[y]ou have a right to talk to a lawyer for advice before we ask you any questions, and to *have him with you during questioning*.”⁴¹ In *Prysock* the defendant was warned that he had “the right to talk to a lawyer *before you are questioned, have him present with you while you are being questioned, and all during the questioning*.”⁴² The Wixom officers’ advice to Defendant does not even reach the level of what *Duckworth* and *Prysock* liberally allowed, regardless of the verbiage used.

C. AFTER *DICKERSON*, THERE IS NO LONGER ANY BASIS TO ADMIT A STATEMENT TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF A REQUIRED *MIRANDA* WARNING, AND ANY SUCH STATEMENT IS PER SE INVOLUNTARY.

If this Honorable Court were to accept the People’s invitation to apply the preceding holdings in their favor, it would first need to determine whether those cases cited by the People, which were decided after *Miranda* but before *Dickerson*, remain valid for the propositions alleged. The entire crux of the People’s argument is that various post-*Miranda* decisions held that strict compliance with *Miranda* was not required.⁴³ This would be understandable had it not been for the decision in *Dickerson v United States*.⁴⁴

⁴¹ *Duckworth*, 492 US at 198 (emphasis added).

⁴² 453 US at 356 (emphasis added).

⁴³ See eg People’s Application at 9-10 (citing *Duckworth v Egan* (1989); *California v Prysock* (1981); *Rhode Island v Innis* (1980)), 14 (citing *People v*

The genesis of the People's reliance on the pre-*Dickerson* cases, and in fact the confusion throughout many subsequent decisions across the country, can be found in the *Miranda* decision itself. For example, the Court stated:

It is impossible for us to foresee the potential alternatives for protecting the privilege which might be devised by Congress or the States in the exercise of their creative rule-making capacities. Therefore we cannot say that the Constitution necessarily requires adherence to any particular solution for the inherent compulsions of the interrogation process as it is presently conducted.⁴⁵

The Court continued, apparently inviting the states and federal legislatures to act in its place:

Our decision in no way creates a constitutional straitjacket which will handicap sound efforts at reform, nor is it intended to have this effect. We encourage Congress and the States to continue their laudable search for increasingly effective ways of protecting the rights of the individual while promoting efficient enforcement of our criminal laws.⁴⁶

In the years following *Miranda* the Court continued to water down the basis for its holding, characterizing the warnings as less than constitutionally required. The Court diminished the warnings as merely "recommended procedural safeguards,"⁴⁷ "only . . . prophylactic,"⁴⁸ and stated that "*Miranda's* safeguards are

Johnson (1979); *People v Bynum* (1970); *People v McClure* (1971)) and 15 (citing *Duckworth* again; *People v Watkins* (1975) and *People v Gilleyem* (1971)).

⁴⁴ 530 US 428; 120 S Ct 2326; 147 L Ed 2d 405 (2000).

⁴⁵ *Miranda*, 384 US at 467.

⁴⁶ *Id.*

⁴⁷ *Davis v United States*, 512 US 452, 457-58; 114 S Ct 2350; 129 L Ed 2d 362 (1994). *Accord, Duckworth v Egan*, 492 US 195, 201; 109 S Ct 2875; 106 L Ed 2d 166 (1989).

⁴⁸ *Michigan v Harvey*, 494 US 344, 350; 110 S Ct 1176; 108 L Ed 2d 293 (1990).

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